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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF OREGON 

PORTLAND DIVISION 
 
 
 
 
MICHAEL KELLY,  
 

Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
THE BOEING COMPANY,  
 

Defendant. 

Case No. 3:18-cv-00659 
 
COMPLAINT 
UNLAWFUL EMPLOYMENT ACTION 
Title I (ADA), FMLA, Discrimination, 
Retaliation and supplemental state law 
claims 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. Plaintiff brings this action to remedy violations of Plaintiff’s statutory rights 

under FMLA – 29 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.; Title I of the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12112, as well as 

supplementary state claims. Plaintiff seeks equitable relief as well as compensatory damages, 

attorneys’ fees and costs.  
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II. JURISDICTION 

2. Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by 28 U.S.C. § 1331, federal question 

jurisdiction, and 28 U.S.C. § 1343, civil rights jurisdiction. 

3. Plaintiff requests this Court invoke its supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1367 with respect to all causes of action based on Oregon statutory provisions or 

common law as the state claims arise from the same nucleus of operative facts as the federal 

claims.  

4. All preconditions to jurisdiction pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5 have been 

satisfied. 

a. On September 7, 2017, Plaintiff filed a charge of employment 

discrimination and retaliation against Defendant The Boeing Company with the Oregon 

Bureau of Labor and Industries (BOLI), case number DPEMDP170907-11220, for 

violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and Oregon Unlawful Employment 

Practice. BOLI co-filed a charge with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 

(EEOC), charge number 38D-2017-00794C.  

b. On January 18, 2018, BOLI issued Plaintiff a right to sue letter for case 

number DPEMDP170907-11220.   

5. Venue is in the District of Oregon pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because the 

claim arose in this Judicial District. 

III. PARTIES 

6. Plaintiff Michael Kelly (“Plaintiff”) is a citizen of the United States. At all times 

material, Plaintiff worked for defendant in Multnomah County, Oregon.  

7. Defendant The Boeing Company (“Defendant”) is a Delaware corporation 

registered to do business in Oregon. Defendant does regular and sustained business in Oregon, 

including Multnomah County, Oregon. Defendant has offices and manufacturing facilities in 

Multnomah County, Oregon, where Plaintiff was employed. 
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8. At all times relevant, Defendant’s employees and supervisors, as their conduct is 

alleged herein, were acting within the course and scope of their employment with Defendant.  

9. American Medical Response Northwest, Inc. (“AMR”) is an Oregon corporation, 

licensed to do business in Oregon. AMR does regular and sustained business in Oregon, 

including Multnomah County, Oregon.  

10. AMR was Defendant’s agent for the purpose of administering drug and alcohol 

testing, for collecting samples of bodily fluids, and Defendant is liable for the conduct AMR’s 

employees during that process. 

IV. GENERAL FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

11. Plaintiff was an employee of Defendant from on or about February 18, 2011, until 

January 12, 2017, when Defendant terminated his employment. Plaintiff worked in the Boeing 

plan located 19000 NE Sandy Blvd, Portland, Oregon. 

12. Plaintiff had previously worked for Defendant or its predecessor corporations at 

the same plant from on or about 1984 through 1994  

13. At all times material, Plaintiff worked as a Milling Machine Operator for 

Defendant.  At all times material, while Plaintiff worked for Defendant, he had disabilities: 

Celiac Disease and Chronic Gout.  Plaintiff’s Celiac Disease affects all the mucous membranes 

of the body including the bladder lining and substantially impairs the major life activities of 

urination, defecation, traveling away from places where bathrooms or restrooms are available, 

and driving. Plaintiff’s Gout substantially impairs his ability to walk and to climb up and down 

stairs.  Plaintiff also suffers from avoidant paruresis or psychogenic urinary retention which 

interferes with his ability to urinate while others watch him.  Defendant refused to accommodate 

him as set forth below.   

14. Plaintiff notified Defendant that he has disabilities. Plaintiff told Defendant that 

he has Celiac Disease and that it interferes with Plaintiff being able to urinate and defecate 

normally. Plaintiff told Defendant that he may be late for work due to his Celiac Disease. 

Plaintiff told Defendant that it was difficult for him to urinate while others watch him.  
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15. While Plaintiff was working for Defendant, he applied for, was granted, and took 

medical leave for his own serious health condition.  Plaintiff’s supervisor told Plaintiff to apply 

for FMLA leave to cover absences and tardiness due to his physical condition.  

16. Plaintiff also applied for an Oregon Department of Motor Vehicles handicap 

parking placard due to his problems with urination. The placard was granted based on his 

physician’s medical opinion and thereafter Plaintiff parked in a handicap parking stall in 

Defendant’s parking lot. After Plaintiff began parking in a handicapped parking stall, 

Defendant’s security employee approached Plaintiff and inquired why Plaintiff needed a 

handicap placard and Plaintiff explained about his Celiac disease and how his ability to urinate 

was substantially impaired.     

17. In 2016 and 2017, Plaintiff’s wife was dying of cancer at their home in rural 

Vernonia, Oregon. At that time, Plaintiff was her primary care giver. In or about December 2016, 

Plaintiff applied for, was granted, and took medical leave for his wife’s serious health condition.  

Defendant’s Human Resources Representative, Caroline Muir (“Muir”), handled the medical 

leave paperwork.   

18. During winter that year, a series of heavy snowfalls occurred in the Portland area. 

Although Plaintiff lived in rural Vernonia, Oregon, Plaintiff was one of the few employees who 

continued to report for work at Defendant’s plant, despite heavy snow fall and difficult driving 

conditions.   

19. On January 11, 2017, Plaintiff began an overnight work shift at the Boeing plant.  

His shift ended at 5:45 a.m. on January 12, 2017.  Because of the heavy snowfall, Plaintiff was 

only able to see a skeleton crew of approximately three people working on the overnight shift 

near him.  

20. On January 12, 2017, at the end of his shift, Plaintiff went to the bathroom and 

urinated. Plaintiff then clocked out at approximately 5:45 a.m. After clocking out, Plaintiff went 

to his car, which was legally parked in a handicap space. Plaintiff stowed his coat in the 

passenger seat, and started the car to warm it up before starting his drive back to Vernonia to 
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care for his wife.  The temperature outside at that time was in the 20’s Fahrenheit with winds 

coming east from the gorge about 35 miles per hour. While his car was warming, Plaintiff briefly 

assisted the maintenance crew in clearing snow from the sidewalks. While assisting the 

maintenance crew clear snow, Plaintiff got his socks wet so he went back inside and changed his 

shoes and socks at this locker.  

21. On January 12, 2017, at approximately 6:00 a.m., fifteen (15) minutes after his 

shift had ended, as Plaintiff was exiting the building to go to his car, he was approached by the 

Day Shift Supervisor James Whiteman (hereafter “Whiteman”).  Whiteman told Plaintiff that he 

had to go take a “test.” Plaintiff explained that his shift was over, that he was going home to take 

care of his very sick wife who was alone and needed him. Plaintiff also told Whiteman that he 

was on FMLA leave for the rest of the week to care for his wife who was dying.  Plaintiff also 

told Whiteman that he did not understand why he was being asked to test after his shift had 

ended because all  previous testing had occurred during his work hours. Whiteman ignored 

Plaintiff’s concerns. Whiteman said that “the collector” had been there since 4:45 a.m. Plaintiff 

told Whiteman that  no one had called him to let him know the collector was there. Whiteman 

said, “If you don’t go for the test, it will be a refusal and we will fire you.” Plaintiff threw away 

his wet socks, an old sandwich, and accidently threw away container that he kept change in.  

22. On January 12, 2017, Whiteman and Plaintiff arrived at the testing room, which 

was unheated and very cold. Wind was whistling through the windows and doors.  Whiteman 

then left the testing room. Plaintiff did not have a coat, only a work shirt over a white T-shirt.  

Carla Scroggins (“Scroggins”), a Test Administrator (TA) or collector employed by AMR, was 

sitting in the room. Scroggins said that she wanted to get the test over with because her children 

were staying home from school that day and she did not have a babysitter. Plaintiff told 

Scroggins that he was in the same boat as he needed to get home to his terminally ill wife.  

23. Scroggins told Plaintiff that she was going to administer a Blood Alcohol Test 

(“BAT”) test. Scroggins asked Plaintiff to empty his pockets. Plaintiff emptied all of his pockets 
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in front of Scroggins. He had some loose change, his keys, badge, and wallet. Plaintiff passed the 

BAT as alcohol was not present in his system.  

24. After Plaintiff passed the BAT, Scroggins told Plaintiff that he was required to 

give a urine sample for a drug urinalysis test. Plaintiff explained he just relieved himself since he 

had planned to drive home and did not think he had much urine left for the sample. Scroggins 

directed Plaintiff to give a sample anyway. Scoggins instructed Plaintiff to go into the bathroom 

and observed him wash his hands. There was no heated water in the washroom. Plaintiff asked 

for a towel and there were no towels in the bathroom to dry his hands before giving a urine 

sample. Scroggins said it looked like it was a new testing station and they have not set it up. 

Scroggins handed Plaintiff a collection cup, instructed Plaintiff to give a urine sample. Before 

asking Plaintiff to give a urine sample, Scoggins did not ask Plaintiff to pull his pants down and 

raise his work shirt. Instead, Scroggins left and closed the door.  

25. While Plaintiff was in the bathroom, Plaintiff held the cup in his wet hands.  

Plaintiff had difficulty urinating  but strained and filled the cup. Plaintiff then opened the 

bathroom door and handed the cup to Scoggins. Scroggins took the sample without comment and 

Plaintiff saw Scoggins put the urine into testing vials in the bathroom.  

26. Plaintiff went back to the testing room and picked up his keys, wallet and other 

personal items and sat down waiting for Scroggins. Scoggins then approached Plaintiff said, “I 

threw the samples away. The cup was too cold. You will have to make another sample.” Plaintiff 

said he did not know if he could make more urine because of his Celiac Disease. Scroggins was 

upset and said, “I need to get home to my kids.”  

27. After Plaintiff told Scroggins that he did not know if he could urinate again, 

Scroggins asked Plaintiff to drink some water, which Plaintiff did. Scroggins then asked Plaintiff 

to go into the bathroom and give a second sample. That time, Scroggins did not observe the 

collection and not have Plaintiff empty his pockets. Scroggins violated collection procedures by 

throwing the first sample away and by failing to immediately conduct a new collection using 

direct observation procedures.  
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28. Plaintiff went into the bathroom and produced a second urine sample, which he 

gave to Scroggins. Plaintiff saw that the temperature reading of the urine cup was fine, but 

Scroggins said that she was rejecting the sample because Plaintiff had not produced enough urine 

this time. Scroggins said she was discarding the second urine sample. Plaintiff told Scroggins she 

should not discard his urine samples.  

29. Defendant denied Plaintiff reasonable accommodations of using non-urine testing. 

Scroggins directed Plaintiff to give a third urine sample. After Scroggins requested a third 

sample, Plaintiff  discussed his Celiac Disease with Scroggins, told Scroggins that he was willing 

to give a sample, but he had already urinated several times that morning and that his Celiac 

Disease was preventing him from giving another urine sample. Plaintiff told Scroggins that he 

did not think he could urinate again, and asked Scroggins if she would draw his blood, sample 

his hair, or tests in some other way rather than requiring another urine sample.  Scroggins said 

“no.” 

30. Plaintiff asked Scroggins for a cup of coffee to assist him make urine so that he 

could comply with her demand for a third urine test. Scroggins told Plaintiff that there was no 

coffee in the testing area. Scroggins asked, “Where can we get coffee?” Plaintiff said, “We may 

be able to get it at a vending machine.” Plaintiff offered to buy Scroggins coffee. They went to 

Plaintiff’s locker and he realized he had thrown away his change vial. Plaintiff and Scroggins 

went to the trash can and he retrieved a yellow plastic vial with a blue top that he kept change in. 

They went to a coffee vending machine but were unable to buy coffee. The vending machine 

which was not working, likely due to lack of service because of the snowfall. Scroggins was 

frustrated that Plaintiff could not buy coffee from the vending machine. Plaintiff told Scroggins 

that this was taking way longer than he anticipated, he had left his car running and he needed to 

turn off the ignition. Scroggins and Plaintiff then went outside and Scroggins observed Plaintiff 

turned off his car. Scroggins and Plaintiff went inside and Plaintiff  suggested that they buy 

coffee at the cafeteria. 

Case 3:18-cv-00659-SI    Document 1    Filed 04/18/18    Page 7 of 18



PAGE 8 – COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL  
Law Offices of Daniel Snyder 

Attorneys At Law 
1000 S.W. Broadway, Suite 2400 

Portland, Oregon 97205 
(503) 241-3617 Fax (503) 241-2249 

31. On the way to the cafeteria, Plaintiff stopped at an ATM to get money as he 

anticipated that the ATMs in Vernonia would be out of service due to the storm. Plaintiff offered 

to buy Scroggins coffee. but she declined and said “hurry up.” Plaintiff drank the cafeteria coffee 

and Plaintiff stopped by the office of a union steward to complain about Scroggins throwing 

away the prior tests. Scroggins then told the union steward that Plaintiff had thrown “something 

away in the trash can.” Plaintiff said, “Gimme a break, it’s my wet socks.” Scroggins and the 

union steward searched the trash container and found the wet socks, but no contraband.  

32. At approximately 7:25 a.m., almost two hours after Plaintiff’s shift had ended, 

Scroggins called for a male observer also employed by AMR. The male observer, Brady Edge 

(“Edge”), arrived after a long wait. Before Edge spoke to Plaintiff, Scroggins had a talk with 

Edge and then left the plant.  

33. Edge directed Plaintiff to wait because Muir was on her way to the testing room. 

After Muir arrived, Edge directed Plaintiff to empty his pockets, which Plaintiff did in the 

presence of Edge and Muir. Edge then demanded that Plaintiff give a third urine sample, which 

Edge said he was going to observe. Edge took Plaintiff into the bathroom and closed the door. 

34. Before directing Plaintiff to begin urinating, Edge did not ask Plaintiff to lower 

his trousers and lift his shirt. Plaintiff and Edge stood in the bathroom with Plaintiff’s penis 

exposed for a long time. Plaintiff had difficulty giving a urine sample. Plaintiff explained he had 

Celiac disease and had urinated at the end of his shift and had already given two samples. 

Plaintiff told Edge that he was embarrassed urinating in front of him. Edge made a telephone call 

and told someone about how much time Plaintiff was taking and the time limits for testing. Edge 

watched Plaintiff urinate and Plaintiff handed the sample to Edge. Edge said, “This is not enough 

urine.” 

35. Plaintiff went into the testing room and called his wife, who was very ill. Plaintiff 

had his cell telephone on speaker and, in Muir’s presence, Plaintiff’s wife was crying and 

coughing and asking Plaintiff to come home. Plaintiff told Edge and Muir that he could not 
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urinate again due to his medical condition.  Plaintiff asked that they arrange for a blood draw or 

other non-urine test so he could complete the process and go home. Muir and Edge said “no.” 

36. Edge then demanded that Plaintiff go back into the bathroom and give a fourth 

urine sample. Plaintiff told Edge that he was embarrassed that Edge was staring at his penis. 

Plaintiff told Edge he could not urinate if Edge watched him. Eventually Edge started looking at 

his telephone as if he was checking email. Plaintiff then gave a fourth sample and handed it to 

Edge. Edge said, “I can’t accept this. I did not see you urinate.”  Plaintiff said, “It is your job to 

watch me.”  

37. Edge then left the bathroom told Muir that he could not accept the fourth urine 

sample as he claimed he did not see the urine come from Plaintiff’s penis. Plaintiff offered Edge 

the opportunity to search his person to assure him he had not contraband, which Edge declined.  

38. Edge then left the Boeing plant building saying he was “done.” To Plaintiff’s best 

knowledge, Edge then threw the sample away violating the collection rules. 

39. Plaintiff told Muir that his wife was sick, that she had approved his FMLA, and 

that he wanted to go to home to her. Plaintiff asked Muir for permission to go home to his wife. 

Muir did not say that Plaintiff could not leave and she did not tell Plaintiff that he was 

terminated.  

40. Plaintiff left the plant and started to walk out to his car. Two security guards stood 

in front of Plaintiff’s car and prevented him from drivers. The guards told Plaintiff that he was 

prohibited from driving his car. The guards said, “We are going to give you a ride home.” The 

security guards called Plaintiff a cab but the cab driver would not take him to his home in 

Vernonia. Instead, the cab driver took Plaintiff to the truck stop motel in Troutdale and would 

take him no further. Because Plaintiff could not get to Vernonia, his seriously ill wife was left 

home alone. 

41. Since both Scoggins and Edge threw away the multiple urine samples Plaintiff 

gave, the urine was never tested by an HHS-certified laboratory in accordance with the criteria 

established by HHS Mandatory Guidelines. Plaintiff did not give an invalid test because the 
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collectors were required to save the samples and have those tested. Plaintiff was not provided 

reasonable accommodations throughout the drug testing process.  

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act - Discrimination) 

42. Plaintiff re-alleges all relevant paragraphs as if fully stated herein. 

43. At all times material, Defendant was an employer for the purpose of, and subject 

to, the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). 

44. Plaintiff has an impairment, which substantially limits one or more major life 

activities, has a history and/or record of such impairment, and/or was regarded by Defendant as 

having such impairment. 

45. Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff because of his disability and retaliated 

against him of pursuing his rights. 

46. Defendant failed to engage in the interactive process with Plaintiff. 

47. Plaintiff requested reasonable accommodations from defendant.  Defendant 

denied Plaintiff the reasonable accommodation of providing hair, blood, or other non-urine form 

of drug testing. 

48. At all relevant times, Plaintiff was able to perform the essential functions of 

Plaintiff’s position, with or without reasonable accommodation. 

49. Defendant’s conduct violated 42 U.S.C. § 12112.  

50. Plaintiff is entitled to equitable relief, including, but not limited to, a declaration 

that Defendant violated Plaintiff’s statutory rights, reinstatement, and an injunction prohibiting 

further discrimination and retaliation.  

51. Plaintiff is entitled to an award for past lost wages and benefits and future lost 

earnings, benefits, and lost earning capacity, and other compensatory damages for past and future 

pecuniary losses. Plaintiff should be awarded economic damages in an amount determined fair 

by a jury.  
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52. Plaintiff is entitled to non-economic damages sufficient to compensate Plaintiff 

for emotional distress and other non-pecuniary losses in an amount to be proved at trial. Plaintiff 

should be awarded non-economic damages in an amount determined fair by a jury.  

53. Defendant’s acts were willful and malicious and done with reckless indifference 

to Plaintiff’s protected rights.  Defendant should be assessed punitive damages in an amount as 

fixed by a jury to punish Defendant and to deter such conduct in the future.  

54. The Court should enter an order declaring that Defendant violated the ADA. 

55. To the extent any amount awarded to Plaintiff is for damages occurring prior to 

the entry of judgment, Plaintiff is entitled to an award of pre-judgment interest at the legal rate 

from the date the damage occurred until the date of judgment. 

56. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 12205, Plaintiff is entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees, 

expert witness fees and costs incurred herein. 

57. Plaintiff is entitled to post-judgment interest on all damages, costs, expenses, and 

fees from the date of judgment until the date paid. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Title I of the Americans with Disabilities Act - Retaliation) 

58. Plaintiff re-alleges all relevant paragraphs as if fully stated herein. 

59. Defendant retaliated against Plaintiff for pursuing Plaintiff’s rights in accordance 

with the ADA.  Such actions by Defendant are in violation of the Americans with Disabilities 

Act. 

60. Plaintiff is entitled to equitable relief, including, but not limited to, a declaration 

that Defendant violated Plaintiff’s statutory rights, reinstatement, and an injunction prohibiting 

further discrimination and retaliation.  

61. Plaintiff is entitled to an award for past lost wages and benefits and future lost 

earnings, benefits, and lost earning capacity, and other compensatory damages for past and future 

pecuniary losses. Plaintiff should be awarded economic damages in an amount determined fair 

by a jury.  
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62. Plaintiff is entitled to non-economic damages sufficient to compensate Plaintiff 

for emotional distress and other nonpecuniary losses in an amount to be proved at trial. Plaintiff 

should be awarded non-economic damages in an amount determined fair by a jury.  

63. Defendant’s acts were willful and malicious and done with reckless indifference 

to Plaintiff’s protected rights.  Defendant should be assessed punitive damages in an amount as 

fixed by a jury to punish Defendant and to deter such conduct in the future.  

64. The Court should enter an order declaring that Defendant violated the ADA. 

65. To the extent any amount awarded to Plaintiff is for damages occurring prior to 

the entry of judgment, Plaintiff is entitled to an award of pre-judgment interest at the legal rate 

from the date the damage occurred until the date of judgment. 

66. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 12205, Plaintiff is entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees, 

expert witness fees, and costs incurred herein. 

67. Plaintiff is entitled to post-judgment interest on all damages, costs, expenses, and 

fees from the date of judgment until the date paid. 

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993 - 29 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.) 

68. Plaintiff re-alleges all relevant paragraphs as if fully stated herein. 

69. Defendant is an ‘employer’ within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 2611(4).  

70. Defendant employed at least 50 employees for each working day during each of 

20 or more calendar work weeks in 2015, 2016, and 2017. 

71. At all times material, Plaintiff was an ‘eligible employee’ within the meaning of 

29 U.S.C. § 2611(2).  

72. At all times in 2015, 2016, and 2017, Defendant employed 50 or more employees 

with 75 miles of the worksite where Plaintiff performed work for Defendant. 

73. Plaintiff was employed by Defendant for at least 1,250 hours of service during the 

12-month period immediately preceding the commencement of the leave. 
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74. Plaintiff was employed by Defendant for more than 12 months prior to 

commencing leave.  

75. At all times material, Plaintiff was an ‘eligible employee’ within the meaning of 

29 U.S.C. § 2611(2).  

76. Plaintiff took medical leave protected by the Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA). 

77. At all material times, Plaintiff suffered from a serious health condition, as defined 

by 29 U.S.C. § 2611(11). 

78. Defendant interfered, discriminated, and retaliated against Plaintiff for engaging 

in the protected activity of taking leave under FMLA. 

79. Defendant interfered, discriminated, and retaliated against Plaintiff for taking 

medical leave by taking adverse employment actions against Plaintiff, including, but not limited 

to, terminating Plaintiff and refusing to reinstate Plaintiff to employment.   

80. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s interference, discrimination and 

retaliation, Plaintiff has suffered lost income and will continue to suffer past and future wages, 

past and future benefits, and other expenses, all to Plaintiff’s economic damages in an amount to 

be determined at trial. 

81. The Court should enter an order declaring that Defendant violated the FMLA. 

82. To the extent any amount awarded to Plaintiff is for damages occurring prior to 

the entry of judgment, Plaintiff is entitled to an award of pre-judgment interest at the legal rate 

from the date the damage occurred until the date of judgment. 

83. Plaintiff is entitled to an award of liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 

§ 2617(a)(1)(A). 

84. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 2617(a)(3), Plaintiff is entitled to an award of attorneys’ 

fees, expert fees, and costs incurred herein. 

85. Plaintiff is entitled to post-judgment interest on all damages, costs, expenses, and 

fees from the date of judgment until the date paid. 
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FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(ORS 659A.103 et seq. – Oregon Rehabilitation Act) 

86. Plaintiff re-alleges all relevant paragraphs as if fully stated herein. 

87. Plaintiff is a ‘disabled person’ as defined at ORS 659A.104(1). 

88. Defendant is an ‘employer’ as defined at ORS 659A.106. 

89. Defendant discriminated against Plaintiff because of his disability and retaliated 

against him of pursuing his rights. 

90. Defendant failed to engage in the interactive process with Plaintiff. 

91. Defendant denied Plaintiff the reasonable accommodation of providing hair, 

blood, or other non-urine form of drug testing to Plaintiff. 

92. Plaintiff could perform the essential functions of Plaintiff’s job with Defendant 

with or without the reasonable accommodations. 

93. Defendant’s refusal to provide reasonable accommodations for Plaintiff’s known 

disability constitutes discrimination against Plaintiff due to Plaintiff’s disability pursuant to ORS 

659A.103 et seq. 

94. Plaintiff is entitled to equitable relief, including, but not limited to, a declaration 

that Defendant violated Plaintiff’s statutory rights, reinstatement, and an injunction prohibiting 

further discrimination and retaliation.  

95. Plaintiff is entitled to an award for past lost wages and benefits and future lost 

earnings, benefits, and lost earning capacity, and other compensatory damages for past and future 

pecuniary losses. Plaintiff should be awarded economic damages in an amount determined fair 

by a jury.  

96. Plaintiff is entitled to non-economic damages sufficient to compensate Plaintiff 

for emotional distress and other nonpecuniary losses in an amount to be proved at trial. Plaintiff 

should be awarded non-economic damages in an amount determined fair by a jury.  

97. The Court should enter an order declaring that Defendant violated the Oregon 

Rehabilitation Act. 
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98. To the extent any amount awarded to Plaintiff is for damages occurring prior to 

the entry of judgment, Plaintiff is entitled to an award of pre-judgment interest at the legal rate 

from the date the damage occurred until the date of judgment. 

99. Pursuant to ORS Chapter 659A and ORS 20.107, Plaintiff is entitled to recover 

Plaintiff’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, including expert witness fees.  

100. Plaintiff is entitled to post-judgment interest on all damages, costs, expenses, and 

fees from the date of judgment until the date paid. 

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Oregon Family Leave Act - ORS 659A.150 et. seq.) 

101. Plaintiff re-alleges all relevant paragraphs as if fully stated herein. 

102. Plaintiff took medical leave protected by the Oregon Family Leave Act (OFLA). 

103. Defendant employed 25 or more persons in the State of Oregon for each working 

day during each of 20 or more calendar workweeks in the year 2015, 2016, and 2017. 

104. Defendant employed 25 or more persons in the State of Oregon for each working 

day during each of 20 or more calendar workweeks in the year 2015, 2016, and 2017. 

105. Immediately prior to commencing family leave in 2015 and 2016, Plaintiff 

worked for Defendant for more than 180 days. 

106. Plaintiff worked an average of more than 25 hours per week for Defendant 

Boeing during the 180 days immediately preceding the date on which Plaintiff commenced 

family leave. 

107. At all material times, Plaintiff had a serious health condition as that term is 

defined in ORS 659A.150(6). 

108. At all material times, Plaintiff’s spouse  had a serious health condition as that 

term is defined in ORS 659A.150(6). 

109. Defendant interfered, discriminated, and retaliated against Plaintiff for taking 

medical leave by taking adverse employment actions against Plaintiff, including, but not limited 

to, terminating Plaintiff’s employment. 
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110. As a result of Defendant’s interference, discrimination, and retaliation against 

Plaintiff, Plaintiff suffered and continues to suffer economic losses, emotional distress, and other 

nonpecuniary losses. 

111. As a result of Defendant’s discrimination and retaliation against Plaintiff, Plaintiff 

is entitled to equitable relief. 

112. Pursuant to 659A.885, Plaintiff is entitled to recover back pay.  

113. The Court should enter an order declaring that Defendant violated the OFLA. 

114. To the extent any amount awarded to Plaintiff is for damages occurring prior to 

the entry of judgment, Plaintiff is entitled to an award of pre-judgment interest at the legal rate 

from the date the damage occurred until the date of judgment. 

115. Pursuant to ORS 659A.885(1) and ORS 20.107, Plaintiff is entitled to recover 

Plaintiff’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, including expert witness fees. 

116. Plaintiff is entitled to post-judgment interest on all damages, costs, expenses, and 

fees from the date of judgment until the date paid. 

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Wrongful Termination) 

117. Plaintiff re-alleges all relevant paragraphs as if fully stated herein. 

118. Defendant’s conduct, as alleged, was in retaliation for Plaintiff assertion of 

Plaintiff’s state and federally protected rights to work in an environment free from 

discrimination, harassment, and otherwise hostile work environments, and as such constitutes a 

wrongful discharge under state common law. 

119. Plaintiff’s remedies under state and federal statutory law do not constitute a 

complete remedy for the damage Defendant has inflicted. 

120. Plaintiff is entitled to equitable relief, including, but not limited to, a declaration 

that Defendant violated Plaintiff’s statutory rights, reinstatement, and an injunction prohibiting 

further discrimination and retaliation.  
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121. Plaintiff is entitled to an award for past lost wages and benefits and future lost 

earnings, benefits, and lost earning capacity, and other compensatory damages for past and future 

pecuniary losses. Plaintiff should be awarded economic damages in an amount determined fair 

by a jury.  

122. Plaintiff is entitled to non-economic damages sufficient to compensate Plaintiff 

for emotional distress and other nonpecuniary losses in an amount to be proved at trial. Plaintiff 

should be awarded non-economic damages in an amount determined fair by a jury.  

123. Defendant’s acts were willful and malicious and done with reckless indifference 

to Plaintiff’s protected rights.  Defendant should be assessed punitive damages in an amount as 

fixed by a jury to punish Defendant and to deter such conduct in the future.  

124. To the extent any amount awarded to Plaintiff is for damages occurring prior to 

the entry of judgment, Plaintiff is entitled to an award of pre-judgment interest at the legal rate 

from the date the damage occurred until the date of judgment. 

125. Pursuant to ORS 20.107, Plaintiff is entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees and 

expert witness fees.   

126. Plaintiff is entitled to post-judgment interest on all damages, costs, expenses, and 

fees from the date of judgment until the date paid. 

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress) 

127. Plaintiff re-alleges all relevant paragraphs as if fully stated herein. 

128. Defendant intended to cause, or knew or should have known that its conduct 

would have caused Plaintiff severe emotional distress. 

129. Defendant’s conduct did in fact cause Plaintiff severe emotional distress. 

130. Defendant’s conduct was outrageous and was extraordinarily beyond the bounds 

of socially tolerable behavior. 

131. Pursuant to ORS 20.107, Plaintiff is entitled to recover Plaintiff’s reasonable 

attorney fees and costs, including expert witness fees. 
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132. Plaintiff is entitled to post judgment interest on all damages, costs, expenses, and 

fees from the date of judgment until the date paid. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Plaintiff prays for the following judgment against Defendant: 

A. A sum which will fully compensate Plaintiff for Plaintiff’s non-economic 

damages in a sum that is just as determined by a jury; 

B. A sum which will fully compensate Plaintiff for Plaintiff’s economic damages in 

a sum that is just as determined by a jury; 

C. Equitable relief, including but not limited to, reinstatement if Plaintiff so chooses; 

D. Liquidated damages; 

E. Plaintiff’s costs and disbursements incurred herein;  

F. Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees; and 

G. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and equitable. 

 Plaintiff demands a trial by Jury. 
 
 Dated: April 18, 2018 
 

Law Offices of Daniel Snyder 
 
   /s/ Daniel Snyder  
Daniel Snyder, OSB No. 783856 
dansnyder@lawofficeofdanielsnyder.com 
Carl Post, OSB No. 06105 
carlpost@lawofficeofdanielsnyder.com 
John David Burgess, OSB 106498 
johnburgess@lawofficeofdanielsnyder.com 
Tel: (503) 241-3617 / Fax: (503) 241-2249 
Of Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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